kb

8/20/85

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67-430

THE UNITED TEACHERS OF DADE, FEA/UNITED, AFT, LOCAL 1974, AFL-CIO, at al.,

Appellants,

vs.

DADE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD; SUPERINTENDENT LEONARD BRITTON; and THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELIANTS

Court of Appeals for the First District of Thorida, Docket No. BG-39 CLERK, SUR. QUART

Second Judicial Circuit Case No. 1884 01698

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

During the 1984 Legislative Session of the State of Florida, Florida Statutes Sections 231.533 and 231.534 were amended and/or passed. [A copy of these statutes in their entirety are attached hereto in the Appendix as "A-1" and "A-2" for easy reference by the Court.] On September 20, 1984, the State Board of Education promulgated SBE Rule 6A-4.46. [A copy of that Rule, too, is attached hereto in the Appendix as "A-3" for the Court's reference.] The two referenced statutes established the "State Master Teacher Program" and the subject area examinations thereunder. The legislation was implemented by the Appellee State Board of Education in its rule. Basically, the law provides for the payment of \$3,000.00 to some teachers in the State who meet a set of criteria to be designated a "master" teacher.

When the two Statutes and the Rule were passed, there existed a contract between the Appellee Dade County School Board and the Appellant, the United Teachers of Dade, FEA/United, AFT, Local 1974, AFL-CIO. This contract covered the period from July 1, 1982, through June 30, 1985, and was amended and supplemented from time to time, including an amendment entered into September 8, 1984, which dealt with the "incentive pay plan". [The contract and its amendments were attached to the initial complaint in this cause as Exhibits "C" and "D".] Suffice it to say, this contract and its amendments set forth specific, bargained-for salary schedules for all the teachers in Dade

County public schools. The new "master" teacher payment would occur with no consideration of negotiated salary schedules in the various school districts and with no resort to collective bargaining with the public employee unions who are the constitutional and statutory representatives of the affected teachers.

On December 5, 1984, Appellant, UTD, filed a suit for declarative and injunctive relief against the Appellees, coupled with a breach of contract count and a Petition for Mandamus against the Superintendent of Schools for Dade County, Leonard Britton [Record at 8-41]; the latter two counts were later voluntarily dropped in order to expedite the decision on the constitutionality of the challenged statutes. [R. at 104-105.] The case was initially filed in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in Dade County, Florida. However, the State Board of Education moved for a change of venue to Leon County. [R. at 91-92.] County Circuit Court Judge Joseph P. Farina entered an Order granting both Appellant's Motion to Expedite and the Appellee State Board's request for a change of venue. [R. at 3-5.] By the time the Court issued that Order, some eight other county teacher's unions [Broward County; Pasco County; St. Lucie County; Charlotte County; Brevard County; Sarasota County; Martin County; and Lake County] had moved to intervene in the case. [R. at 48-61; 93-96.] That demonstration of wide-spread interest was found by the Circuit Judge to manifestly demonstrate the great public interest in the case and

to be a part of the reasons why the Motion to Expedite was granted.

On January 2, 1985, the Appellant had filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Count I (the constitutional attack) of the Complaint. On January 23, 1985, the Appellant entered voluntary dismissals on Counts II and III of the Complaint, "in order to expedite the hearing on the merits on the constitutional attack in Count I and to focus the judicial energies to that single issue." [R. at 104-105.]

The State Board had filed, along with its Motion for Change of Venue, a Motion to Dismiss that was still pending when the case was moved to Leon County and placed before Circuit Judge Charles Miner. [R. at 74-88; 100-103.] On February 5, 1985, a hearing was had on the State Board's Motion to Dismiss. Extensive oral argument was made. The Court reserved ruling, announcing that it would rule within the week. On February 6, 1985, the State Board of Education filed a "Motion for Leave to withdraw Motion to Dismiss" which was granted on February 7, 1985. [R. at 106-109; 110.]

During the oral argument on the Motion to Dismiss, all parties had agreed this matter would come up for final hearing on the merits at the next hearing. Appellant, UTD, still had its Motion for Summary Judgment pending. An Affidavit in support of that Motion by Pat L. Tornillo, Jr., was filed on February 15, 1985. [R. at 122-128.]

The Dade County School Board had filed its Answer on

December 20, 1984, [R. at 62-68] and the matter had been at issue since. The Answer of the State Board of Education was filed February 13, 1985, placing all parties at issue. [R. at 111-114.] One further Motion to Intervene had been filed, this one on behalf of the Alachua County Education Association. [R. at 93-94.]

On February 15, 1985, when the pleadings were closed, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed an "Alternative Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings". [R. at 115-119.]

The matter was set for full final argument on February 19, 1985. On that day, the Defendants submitted a responsive affidavit to the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment from Governor Bob Graham. [R. at 179-183.] Both sides exchanged memoranda of law. [R. at 140-156 (plaintiff); 157-167 (defendants).] The memorandum of the Appellee State Board agreed "that the closed pleadings present no issue of material fact, the need for resolution of which would bar the issuance by the Court of a declaratory decree concerning the constitutionality of the State Master Teacher Program." [R. at 157.] The State Defendant/Appellee chose not to file any Motion on its own behalf, rather relying on a responsive position to the motions filed by the Appellant. The intervening nine teachers' unions joined in the pleadings filed by the United Teachers of Dade.

After a hearing on February 19, 1985, the Judge agreed that he would expedite his decision, probably issuing it that afternoon. On March 19, 1985, one month later, the Court

entered its "Order on Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings". [R. at 184-187.] [A copy of that Order is attached in the Appendix, A-4.] The Court agreed with the parties that "a judicial declaration in the premises is appropriate and that Plaintiff has stated an entitlement to such a declaration, albeit, one that may not be to its liking." [R. at 184.] That summary proved accurate. In the four-page order, with no citation to a single case precedent or mention of authority other than a general reference to sections of the Florida Constitution, the Court found:

9 6

Turning to the limited constitutional issue raised here, it seems clear that the Master Teacher Plan does not abridge the right of public employees to bargain collectively.

* * *

Accordingly, the premises considered, the Court finds as follows:

1. The challenged statutory sections and the State Board of Education rule challenged in this litigation do not violate Article I, Sec. 6 of the Florida Constitution.

Whether the Master Teacher Plan violates other constitutional provisions was neither raised in the pleadings nor considered or decided in this Order. [R. at 185-187.]

٠.

A Notice of Appeal on behalf of the Appellant, UTD, as well as on behalf of all of the intervenors in the cause, was filed on April 9, 1985. [R. at 188-189.] Accompanying that Notice of Appeal, and filed simultaneously, was a Motion for Expeditious Preparation of the Record, Briefing and Hearing, and Directions to the Clerk. [R. at 190-191.] The Court ordered expeditious briefing [R. at 193.]. The matter was heard before the District Court of Appeal for the First District of Florida on June 20, 1985 and a per curiam affirmance of the trial court's decision issued on July 3, 1985. [Appendix, A-5.] The District Court certified to this, the Supreme Court of Florida, the following question as one of great public importance:

IS FLORIDA'S MASTER TEACHER PROGRAM (F.S. SECTIONS 231.533 AND 231.534 (SUPP. 1984)) AN ABRIDGMENT OF THE CONSTITUTIONALLY GUARANTEED RIGHT TO COLLECTIVELY BARGAIN?

On July, 29, 1985, Appellants filed a timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction (Rule 9.030) and a Suggestion that Certified Question Be Reviewed Immediately. This Court agreed to an immediate review and thus this brief and appendix are filed expeditiously.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

• •

In accordance with Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(4) a summary of the argument presented in this cause is set forth hereafter. Essentially, the Appellant teacher unions contend that the legislature in passing Florida Statutes Sections 231.533 and 231.534 abridged the rights of public employee union members to collectively bargain as guaranteed in Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution which provides:

Right to Work--The right of persons to work shall not be denied or abridged on account of membership or nonmembership in any labor union or labor organization. The right of employees, by and through a labor organization, to bargain collectively shall not be denied or abridged. Public employees shall not have the right to strike.

Appellants contend that this Court has interpreted Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution to assure to public employees the same bargaining rights as are held by private employees. See, Dade County Classroom Teachers' Association, Inc. v. Ryan, 225 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1969); Dade County Classroom Teachers' Association, Inc. v. The Legislature, 269 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1972); and City of Tallahassee v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 410 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1981).

Appellants contend that the State has attempted in the challenged statutes to by-pass the collective bargaining process and to give to certain teacher public employees, members of bargaining units represented by the Appellants, wages, compensation, salary, money, different and unique from the salaries

provided in the collectively bargained contracts in the various Appellant school districts. The so called "merit raises" are, in Appellants' perspective, nothing more than the unilateral grant of a bonus to some employees and not to others under conditions established outside the collective bargaining process. Such a unilateral change in the wages, terms and conditions of employment on the part of a private employer with its union-represented employees would obviously be an unfair labor practice. It is no more acceptable behavior for the State of Florida to engage in an unprecedented misadventure into established employer/employee negotiated salary arenas.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND/OR MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS FINDING THE STATE MASTER TEACHER PLAN TO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

STATED ALTERNATIVELY

WHETHER F.S. SECTIONS 231.533 AND 231.534 ALONG WITH STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION RULE 6A-4.46 IS AN ABRIDGMENT OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY GUARANTEE OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RIGHT TO COLLECTIVELY BARGAIN [F.S. SECS. 447.201; 447.309(1) AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION]?

The Complaint in this cause stated a straightforward attack on the facial constitutionality of the legislative and regulatory scheme that established the State Master Teacher The Plaintiff/Appellant, the United Teachers of Dade, Program. is the exclusive bargaining agent representing the instructional personnel (as well as the paraprofessional and clerical staff) of the Dade County Public Schools. There are in excess of 18,000 teachers in the bargaining unit that it represents. UTD is a labor union representing pubic employees and an employee organization certified as an exclusive bargaining agent pursuant to F.S. Sec. 447.307. [See Paragraph 3 of the Complaint.] other Appellants, as stated in their motions to intervene, are similarly situated in that they are public employee unions representing the teachers in their respective counties. Defendant/Appellee, Dade County School Board, is the duly elected Board established under the Florida Constitution, Article IX, Section 6, and Florida Statutes 230.03(2) which has the responsibility for the organization and control of the public schools of Dade County. The Dade County School Board is the "employer" of the members of the UTD represented bargaining unit. party to the contract between the Dade County Public Schools and the United Teachers of Dade, 7/1/82 - 6/30/85. It is the body under Chapter 447 of the Florida Statutes, which is empowered to negotiate with and enter into contracts with UTD in order to fix, for the duration of the contract, the "wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment" in accordance with Florida Statutes Chapter 447, Part II. [See Paragraph 4 of the Complaint; R. at 10-11.] The Defendant/Appellee, State Board of Education, is composed of the Governor and the Cabinet of the State of Florida and is the executive-administrative body constitutionally and statutorily defined as the body corporate which has supervision over the system of public education as provided by law, Florida Constitution, Article IX, Section 2. The State Board of Education is the agency of the State of Florida which has been given the responsibility under F.S. Sec. 231.533 and Sec. 231.534 to promulgate rules and to recommend subject area examinations and qualifying scores for the State Master Teacher Program. The Board adopted on September 20, 1984, SBE Rule 6A-4.46 which establishes the methodology by which the State Master Teacher Program will be implemented.

It is the fundamental contention of the Appellants that the State of Florida has improperly interposed itself into the employer-employee relationship between the members of

certified public employee unions and their employer school boards. The State Master Teacher Program awards to some teachers represented by the Appellants \$3,000 annually in additional compensation. The Department of Administration, in answer to an inquiry from Commissioner Ralph Turlington, stated that the monies would not be subject to retirement contributions but would be subject to social security contributions. [R. at 127-128.]

Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides:

Right to Work--The right of persons to work shall not be denied or abridged on account of membership or nonmembership in any labor union or labor organization. The right of employees, by and through a labor organization, to bargain collectively shall not be denied or abridged. Public employees shall not have the right to strike. [Emphasis supplied.]

That constitutional guarantee has been definitively interpreted by the Supreme Court of Florida as granting to public employees the same rights of collective bargaining as are granted to private employees, see citations infra. Private employees, and, for that matter, until the challenged statutes were passed, public employees, have always had the right to collectively bargain all matters incidental to compensation. By law, public employees of the State of Florida have had the scope of bargaining defined by Florida Statutes Sec. 447.309(1) which states:

. . . The chief executive officer of the of the appropriate public employer or employers, jointly, shall bargain collectively in the determination of the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment of the public employees within the bargaining unit. [Emphasis supplied.]

By establishing a methodology totally outside the scope of collective bargaining by which some Appellant-represented employees will receive additional wages while other members of their bargaining unit will not receive them, the statutory scheme and the implementing regulations unconstitutionally abridge the right of organization and representation of public employees. By law and constitutional protection, the teachers of each school district have the right to mandatorily, collectively bargain through their properly certified representative each and every negotiable aspect of their employment, and, specifically, the right to bargain the impact on the wages of represented unit members of any changes in the salary schedule whether such changes in compensation are characterized as supplements, bonuses, or merit pay.

The statutory implementation of the constitutional guarantee of bargaining for public employees is contained in Chapter 447 of Florida Statutes. The policy behind the constitutional guarantee is set forth in F.S. Sec. 447.201:

447.201 Statement of Policy

It is declared that the public policy of the State, and the purpose of this part, is to provide statutory implementation of s. 6, Art. I of the State Constitution, with respect to public employees; to promote harmonious and cooperative relationships between government and its employees, both collectively and individually; and

to protect the public by assuring, at all times, the orderly and uninterrupted operations and functions of government. It is the intent of the Legislature that nothing herein shall be construed either to encourage or discourage organization of public employees. These policies are best effectuated by:

• •

- (1) Granting to public employees the right of organization and representation;
- (2) Requiring the state, local governments, and other political subdivisions to negotiate with bargaining agents duly certified to represent public employees;
- (3) Creating a public employees relations commission to assist in resolving disputes between public employees and public employers; and
- (4) Recognizing the constitutional prohibition against strikes by public employees and providing remedies for violations of such prohibition.

The purposeful avoidance of the collective bargaining process is old time union busting in a new State approved incarnation. It looks no better in its new clothes. The State, in bypassing UTD and the intervening unions as the exclusive bargaining agents for their county's teachers, is just as much in violation of the public employees' right to bargain as is the Dade County School Board and each of the intervening unions' school boards in tolerating without protest this interference with the collective bargaining process. By providing additional wages for some employees and not to others without resort to the collective bargaining system, the Appellees have unilaterally changed the terms of the existing contracts between the individual county school systems and their public employee unions and have sub-

verted the collective bargaining process in an ultimate and unconstitutional fashion.

The Complaint in this cause raised unambiguously the question of the facial unconstitutionality of the State Master Teacher Plan. Moving to get that issue resolved as quickly as possible, the Appellants filed alternative motions for summary judgment and/or motions for judgment on the pleadings. The only distinction between the two was that under the Motion for Summary Judgment, a supportive affidavit on behalf of Pat L. Tornillo, Jr., set forth certain facts of public record that could be considered in the context of a summary judgment. Obviously, that affidavit was not properly before the Court for purposes of consideration of the motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Plaintiff/Appellant began with the proposition that legislative acts are presumed constitutional. Nonetheless, given the legal issue raised in the Complaint in this cause, Appellant argued that the duty of the Court was to strike down the challenged statutes (and their correlative State Board Rule) since the scheme was in positive conflict with a provision of the organic law. Appellants argued that the Court must do this irrespective of the appeal of the State as to the wisdom of such legislation and without consideration of the consequences of the Court's determination. The Order entered by the Court wrapped the logic of the legislation around it and rattled the saber of dire consequences. Even more upsetting, the Order of the Court

dealt with not a single case cited by the Plaintiff and Intervenors -- nor, for that matter, with the cases brought forth by the Defendants/Appellees. It simply ignored the legal basis for the action.

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