IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNITED TEACHERS OF DADE, FEA/UNITED, AFT, LOCAL 1974, AFL-CIO, et al.,

Petitioner,

v.

DADE COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD, SUPERINTENDENT LEONARD BRITTON, and THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.

CASE No. 67,430 First DCA Docket no. BG-39 On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Second Judicial Circuit, In and For Leon County, Case No. 85-169

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION

Judith A. Brechner, Esquire General Counsel STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION Knott Building Tallahassee, Florida 32301

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

No provision of Section 231.533 or 231.534 precludes or abridges any aspect of bargaining between public employees and their own public employers. The fixing of a \$3,000 recognitional award to be provided to successful candidates for the program has no effect on the bargaining rights of any public employee who is not actually selected as an associate master teacher and who will not therefore receive the \$3,000 award. No wholesale intrusion upon public employee rights to bargain "wages" is even theoretically at issue.

Teachers who choose to participate in the Master Teacher Program and to qualify as associate master teachers are free to bargain, concerning the amount of the Master Teacher award with their local school boards, in accordance with Section 447.309(3), Florida Statutes. Section 447.309(3) permits parties to negotiate collective bargaining agreements which conflict with existing statutes and to submit proposed statutory amendments to validate their agreements. However, because the Master Teacher Program is voluntary, there is no lawful way that participation in the program by individual teachers can be controlled directly by a collective bargaining agreement. An individual teacher's decision to become a candidate is a consensual event affecting individual rather than collective interests in the workplace. Absent collective impact, no duty to bargain properly exists as to any subject. No public employer or public employee

-13-

union possesses the right to compel voluntary acts by public employees through a collective bargaining agreement.

The real contention of the Unions is that the Florida Legislature may not provide extra funds directly to teachers without bargaining about it with teacher unions. The Unions thus claim an enhanced right not enjoyed by private employees: the right to bargain with an entity which is not the employer of employees whom they represent. The First District properly affirmed the trial court's correct conclusion that neither the Department of Education nor the State Board of Education is a "public employer" with a statutory duty to negotiate with employee representatives. Only the Legislature possesses the power to control the amount of the Master Teacher Program award. Thus, only bargaining with the Legislature would satisfy the Unions' claim that the award is bargainable "wages". The State Board of Education possesses no more power over the amount or timing of the award than does any local school board.

Only two alternatives would satisfy the Unions' claims. First, that the Legislature be held powerless to fix the amount of the award or to otherwise control by statute any arguably negotiable "wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment." Such a result is clearly both absurd and unconstitutional. The second alternative would be to require the Legislature to bargain as if it were a "public employer" as defined. This alternative too would displace the valid constitutional prerogatives of the Legislature, elevate teacher union power to paramount status, and work a fundamental change in the legislative process not contemplated under existing organic law.

All provisions of the Florida Constitution must be read <u>in pari materia</u>, as the trial court held. Articles III and IX of the Florida Constitution confer upon the Legislature

-14-

discretion to control public education by statute. Employee bargaining rights secured by Article I, Section 6 must coexist with the valid constitutional authority of the Legislature. The trial court and the First District correctly declined to elevate employee bargaining rights to preeminence and to create a radically different and unprecedented series of relationships not heretofore contemplated in law or policy.

The Unions have not shown, and can never show, any constitutional infirmity in Section 231.534 or Florida Administrative Code Rule 6A-4.46. The creation of subject area tests is not a conceivable subject of bargaining. Employee bargaining rights are thus not implicated by Section 231.534. Furthermore, none of the Unions had standing to challenge Rule 6A-4.46 by an original circuit court declaratory judgment action.

ARGUMENT

THE MASTER TEACHER PROGRAM DOES NOT CONTRAVENE ARTICLE I, SECTION 6, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Introduction

The trial court's "Order on Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings" (R-184), adopted verbatim by the First District Court of Appeal (A-1-4), incisively sets forth both the essence of the State Master Teacher Program and the essence of UTD's alleged constitutional objection to it:

[T] his program would confer a three-thousand dollar grant/award on selected superior teachers who voluntarily satisfy certain statutory criteria. This amount is payable directly from the State Comptroller to the teacher twice each year in increments of fifteen-hundred dollars. Plaintiff asserts that such a program, bypassing as it does the collective bargaining process guaranteed public employees under Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution and implemented under the provisions of Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes, amounts to an abridgment of the right of those employees to bargain collectively.

The trial court went on to conclude that the Master Teacher Program did not abridge the right of public employees to bargain collectively (R-185). That conclusion is correct for two independent reasons. First, neither Section 231.533, Florida Statutes, nor Section 231.534, Florida Statutes, interferes in any way with the right of public employees to negotiate with their own public employer concerning any subject of bargaining. Secondly, public employees have no constitutional right to negotiate with anyone but their own employer.

-16-

A. The Master Teacher Program does not abridge public employee bargaining rights in any manner.

At no stage in the proceedings have the Unions contended that any provision of Section 231.533 or 231.534 prohibits any public employee from engaging in collective bargaining with his or her own public employer concerning any subject whatsoever. No one can point to any provision of the challenged statutes which prohibits, inhibits, or otherwise places a charge on the free exercise of bargaining between teachers and district school boards, or between any other "public employee" and "public employer", as defined in Section 447.203(3) and (2), Florida Statutes (1983), respectively. $\frac{3}{2}$

It is indisputable that the bargaining rights of the overwhelming majority of "public employees" remain entirely unaffected by the State Master Teacher Program. The maximum possible impact of the State Master Teacher Program upon the universe of Florida "public employee" collective bargaining rights cannot extend beyond the limited class of continuing contract public school instructional personnel who voluntarily qualify as associate master teachers but who are "compelled" to accept a fixed \$3,000 incentive award without being able to bargain over it. Even assuming arguendo the validity of the

3/

Teachers are "public employees." Section 447.203(3) defines the term "public employee," with exceptions not pertinent here, as "any person employed by a public employer." District school boards, granted plenary powers over the employment of teachers and other personnel by Section 230.23(5), Florida Statutes, are specifically denominated "public employers" by Section 447.203(2): "The district school board shall be deemed to be the public employer with respect to all employees of the school district." It is significant that the Florida Legislature chose to define itself not as a "public employer" but as a "legislative body." § 447.203(10), Fla. Stat. See pp. 29-30, infra. Unions' theory that the incentive award constitutes bargainable "wages", it is clear that no non-instructional employee of any description, and no instructional employee who fails to meet the statutory Program eligibility criteria, is in any possible danger of receiving extra, unbargained "wages" through the Program. The closely circumscribed reach of the Master Teacher Program in comparison to the "public employee" population of Florida buttresses the conclusion that no indiscriminate State intrusion on employee bargaining rights is even theoretically involved here, contrary to the inflated rhetoric of the Unions' briefs. (E.g., UTD's Brief at pp. 36-37.)

That the impact of the Master Teacher Program can extend no further than actually-selected associate master teachers may seem paradoxical, but the proposition can easily be demonstrated. All public employees possess the statutory right to negotiate with their public employer in the determination of "wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment." § 447.301(2), Fla. Stat. (1983). The State Board believes that this Court may safely take judicial notice that the exercise of public employee rights to negotiate "wages" generally manifests itself in demands for higher "wages." Even if it is assumed that an associate master teacher award represents higher "wages," as the Unions insist, no "public employee" of any sort is even theoretically hindered by any provision of Section 231.533 or 231.534 from lawfully negotiating with his or her public employer for higher "wages". Whether such higher "wages" take the form of an award program like the Master Teacher Program, or some other form, is in no way delimited by the State Master Teacher Program. In short, the statutes in question place no constraint whatsoever upon "wages" bargaining by "public employees," including teachers who, for whatever reason, are ineligible for the associate master teacher award.

-18-

If the Unions' inchoate theory is pushed to its logical extension (as the Unions have conveniently neglected to do), only teachers who choose to and do qualify as associate master teachers are greeted with a theoretical constraint on their "wages" bargaining. Only these teachers are entitled to receive the specified \$3,000 "wage" increase, the amount of which has not been bargained with anyone. But, theory aside, the legislative specification of the amount of the master teacher award does not actually constrain local bargaining for a different award amount.

Even though a 3,000 associate master teacher award is required by Section 231.533(5), Florida Statutes, the statute does not prohibit bargaining between teachers and district school boards concerning proposals for a different award amount. The fact that district school boards control neither the amount of the award nor the timing and method of its payment does not signify that the Master Teacher Program abridges teacher bargaining rights, as the Unions contend. Chapter 447, Part II already contains a procedure through which public employees may negotiate concerning matters outside the control of the local public employer. § 477.309(3), Fla. Stat. (1983).

Section 447.309(3), Florida Statutes (1983), represents clear legislative recognition that parties to local bargaining obligations would likely encounter controlling statutory provisions in conflict with bargaining agreements they desired to enter. Section 447.309(3) provides a procedure which preserves the rights of parties to bargain concerning matters of interest to them, while at the same time preserving the legislative prerogative to say what the law is:

If any provision of a collective bargaining agreement is in conflict with any law, ordinance, rule, or regulation over which the chief executive officer has no amendatory power, the chief executive officer shall submit to the appropriate governmental body having amendatory power a proposed

-19-

amendment to such law, ordinance, rule, or regulation. Unless and until such amendment is enacted or becomes effective, the conflicting provision of the collective bargaining agreement shall not become effective.

Furthermore, the Unions have consistently ignored the voluntary nature of the Master Teacher Program. With good reason: the implications of voluntariness fatally undermine their thesis that teacher bargaining rights are abridged by the Program. An individual teacher's voluntary participation in the Program, including the ultimate receipt of a recognitional award, if available, is a matter which is not amenable to determination through the bargaining process. It is a consensual event affecting individual rather than collective interests in the workplace.

The Florida PERC has stated as follows in finding no duty on the part of a school board to bargain over the reassignment of a single teacher to a different class:

The obligation to bargain, though, arises only when the impact is upon the <u>collective</u> interests of the represented employees. Where the impact is confined to a single employee, there is no duty to bargain under Section 447.309(1), Florida Statutes (1979). Collectivity is, after all, the "heart and soul" of Chapter 447, Part II, Florida Statutes. (Footnotes omitted) (emphasis original).

Manatee Education Association v. School Board of Manatee County, 7 FPER ¶ 12017 (1980); Accord, IAFF Local 1403 v. Metropolitan Dade County, 9 FPER ¶ 14256 (1983); Federation of Public Employees v. Broward County Sheriff's Department, 8 FPER ¶ 13089 (1982).

In the case of an employer's reassignment of an employee, the employee has no choice but to acquiesce in the matter if he or she desires to remain employed. But no aspect of the Master Teacher Program is compulsory. No district school board could lawfully require either participation or non-participation in the program. Likewise, no teacher union may preclude a teacher from entry into the program (or compel it, for that matter) by negotiated agreement. Any negotiated restriction on employee constitutional rights is only valid to the extent that the <u>school board</u> has the lawful power to agree to it. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Lake County Education Association v. School Board of Lake County</u>, 360 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) (no power to delegate annual contract teacher reappointment to arbitrator by collective bargaining agreement); <u>see also Board of Public Instruction of Dade County v. Dade Classroom Teachers Association</u>, 243 So.2d 210 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971) (no power in collective bargaining agreement to condition teacher contract renewal on compulsory testing when not authorized by statute).<u>3</u>/

Florida courts have consistently recognized that a public employer and union may not by collective bargaining agreement compel acts designated as voluntary by law. <u>AFSCME, Local 3032 v. Delaney</u>, 458 So.2d 372 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (forced contribution of sick time to "union time pool" unlawful); <u>see generally Schermerhorn v. Local 1625</u>, <u>Retail Clerks International Association</u>, 141 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1962); <u>aff'd</u> 373 U.S. 746, 83 S.Ct. 1461, 10 L.Ed. 2d 678 (1963). The Fourth District has recently held that the waiver of a statutory right is not a mandatory subject of bargaining. <u>Palm Beach Jr. College Bd.</u> <u>of Trustees v. United Faculty of Palm Beach Jr. College</u>, 468 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 4th DCA

At page 19 of their brief, Intervenors make the dubious suggestion that "increased or more stringent standards [for the Master Teacher Program] than those established by the state . . ." could be established through local bargaining. Yet, on the same page, Intervenors assert: "Appellants in this case have <u>never</u> argued that it was their intent to negotiate stateside (sic) standards." The juxtaposition of these wholly irreconcilable notions exemplifies the Unions' consistent inability to articulate precisely how mandatory local bargaining could accomplish anything but the destruction of a uniform state-wide award plan. See pp. 29-31, infra.

1985). And, within the past fortnight, this Court has given its unqualified approval to the notion that a waiver of statutory rights possessed by employees is a non-mandatory subject for bargaining which cannot be imposed by a public employer through the impasse procedure of Section 447.403, Florida Statutes. <u>Palm Beach Junior College Board of Trustees v. United Faculty of Palm Beach Junior College</u>, 10 F.L.W. 450 (Fla. August 30, 1985).

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